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CORPORATE DISCLOSURE STATEMENT 

Petitioner National Steel Supply, Inc.’s Rule 29.6 
Statement was set forth at page ii of the petition for 
a writ of certiorari, and there are no amendments to 
that Statement. 
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Respondent does not contest that the courts of ap-
peals are deeply divided on the question presented by 
the petition.  That undisputedly cert-worthy question 
is whether a private plaintiff can establish proximate 
cause under RICO, 18 U.S.C. § 1964(c), based on 
nothing more than evidence that the defendant cor-
poration reinvested allegedly ill-gotten gains at some 
point in the past.  See Pet. i.  Respondent identifies 
no barrier to resolving that question in this case.   

Rather, respondent inveighs against a separate 
question that is not raised in the petition.  Respon-
dent seeks to confuse the Court by arguing (at i, 6) 
about whether the “use or invest[ment]” of racketeer-
ing income violates 18 U.S.C. § 1962(a) only if the            
resulting injuries are “distinct” or “separate” from 
the predicate-act injuries that are actionable under 
§ 1962(c).  But the boundary between § 1962(a) and 
§ 1962(c) — which implicates both civil and criminal 
RICO liability — is irrelevant here.  The relevant 
question is whether, even assuming that petitioners 
violated § 1962(a), respondent can bring a private, 
treble-damages action for that violation under 
§ 1964(c) merely by proving that petitioners reinvested 
into their business the proceeds of alleged racket-
eering activity.  Four circuits apply civil RICO’s              
proximate-cause requirement to hold no, and three 
circuits, including the Second Circuit, reject that          
position.  

The Second Circuit erred in joining the minority 
side of that split.  This Court long has held that          
private RICO plaintiffs must establish “ ‘some direct 
relation between the injury asserted and the injurious 
conduct alleged.’  A link that is ‘too remote,’ ‘purely 
contingent,’ or ‘indirect’ is insufficient.”  Hemi Group, 
LLC v. City of New York, 130 S. Ct. 983, 989 (2010) 
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(opinion for the Court in part) (quoting Holmes v.          
Securities Investor Prot. Corp., 503 U.S. 258, 268, 271 
(1992)) (alteration omitted).  Even under respon-
dent’s view of the facts, Ideal’s alleged RICO injuries 
are “purely contingent” on a multi-step causal chain 
that would require the finder of fact to:  identify the 
amount of allegedly illicit moneys that petitioners           
reinvested in their business (as opposed to pocketing 
for profit or using for some other purpose); segregate 
them from the corporation’s other, legitimate funds; 
and then guess whether and to what extent the              
former portion caused competitive injuries that Ideal 
allegedly incurred years later.  The proximate-cause 
principles that this Court repeatedly has emphasized 
— in Holmes, Hemi, and its first opinion in this case, 
see Anza v. Ideal Steel Supply Corp., 547 U.S. 451, 
459 (2006) (“Anza I”) — bar such speculative inqui-
ries as a matter of law. 

The Chamber of Commerce’s amicus brief support-
ing certiorari (at 8-16) powerfully illustrates the con-
sequences of forcing businesses to defend against 
such multi-link causal chains.  Absent this Court’s 
intervention, successful firms’ pro-competitive busi-
ness decisions will raise the specter of treble-damages 
actions by their unsuccessful rivals.  That concern 
prompted this Court to reject Ideal’s allegations once 
before.  See Anza, 547 U.S. at 459-60; id. at 485 
(Breyer, J., concurring in relevant part).  The Second 
Circuit’s failure to heed that guidance necessitates 
the Court’s attention again:  “One eventful trip to            
1 First Street surely deserves another.”  App. 35a        
(Cabranes, J., dissenting). 
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I. THE COURTS OF APPEALS ARE DIVIDED 
ON THE QUESTION PRESENTED 

Respondent fundamentally misunderstands peti-
tioners’ challenge to the decision below.  The ques-
tion presented is not whether a § 1962(a) plaintiff 
must show an “investment injury” in addition to (and 
“distinct” from) an injury from the defendant’s predi-
cate acts, the latter of which are independently            
actionable under § 1962(c).  See generally Opp. 3-25; 
Gregory P. Joseph, Civil RICO:  A Definitive Guide 
45-47 (2d ed. 2000) (explaining the “investment in-
jury” rule under § 1962(a)).  It is by now well-settled 
that § 1962(a) requires an investment injury because, 
“if allegations sufficient to base a § 1962(c) action 
meet all the requirements of a § 1962(a) allegation, 
then why did Congress pass both?”  Danielsen v. 
Burnside-Ott Aviation Training Ctr., Inc., 941 F.2d 
1220, 1230 (D.C. Cir. 1991).  Indeed, the “investment 
injury” rule has been the law in the Second Circuit 
for more than 20 years.  See Ouaknine v. MacFar-
lane, 897 F.2d 75, 83 (2d Cir. 1990); see also Fogie v. 
THORN Americas, Inc., 190 F.3d 889, 894-95 (8th 
Cir. 1999) (noting that eight of the nine circuits to 
consider the question, including the Second Circuit, 
have embraced the “investment injury” rule under 
§ 1962(a)).  As respondent points out (at 7-9), neither 
party below urged the Second Circuit to waver from 
that rule, and the petition does not urge this Court to 
change it.  

Whether § 1962(a) requires a distinct “investment 
injury” is a different question, however, from whether 
that injury — even assuming that Ideal could estab-
lish it — is sufficiently direct to be civilly actionable 
under § 1964(c) in a particular case.  Multiple cir-
cuits have recognized the distinction between the 
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“investment injury” rule under § 1962(a) and the 
proximate-cause requirement under § 1964(c).  For 
example, the Sixth Circuit long has adhered to “the 
§ 1962(a) ‘majority rule’ requiring ‘investment injury’ 
distinct from injury the racketeering itself caused.”  
Opp. 6.1  Nonetheless, the Sixth Circuit — like the 
Second — falls on the short side of the split identified 
in the petition because it reads § 1964(c)’s proximate-
cause requirement to authorize private RICO suits 
premised on nothing more than a corporate defen-
dant’s reinvestment of allegedly ill-gotten gains.  See 
Pet. 23-24 (discussing Newmyer v. Philatelic Leasing, 
Ltd., 888 F.2d 385 (6th Cir. 1989)); Pet. 25-31 (dis-
cussing the Second Circuit’s decision below).2  Respon-
dent says nothing about that dimension of either            
circuit’s jurisprudence, and it relegates Newmyer to a 
footnote without discussion, see Opp. 10 n.5. 

By contrast, the four circuits in the majority of the 
split not only apply the “investment injury” rule but 
also read § 1964(c) to prohibit as a matter of law the 
sort of speculative trace-the-dollars inquiry embraced 
below.  For example, the Eighth Circuit in Fogie 
adopted the “investment injury” rule because, “if         

                                                 
1 See, e.g., Craighead v. E.F. Hutton & Co., 899 F.2d 485, 494 

(6th Cir. 1990) (affirming dismissal of § 1962(a) claim because 
plaintiffs “have not alleged injuries stemming directly from the 
defendants’ alleged use or investment of their illegally obtained 
income,” and, “[u]nlike section 1962(c), subsection (a) requires 
such a separate and traceable injury, and plaintiffs have alleged 
only injuries traceable to the alleged predicate acts”). 

2 Busby v. Crown Supply, Inc., 896 F.2d 833 (4th Cir. 1990), 
is the third case on the minority side of the split because it 
adopted an equally expansive reading of § 1964(c).  See Pet. 24-
25.  Busby is unique, however, because the Fourth Circuit is the 
only court of appeals to reject the “investment injury” rule            
under § 1962(a).  See 896 F.2d at 836-38; Joseph, Civil RICO 46. 
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individuals injured only by predicate acts could bring 
a civil action under § 1962(a), § 1962(c) would be ren-
dered superfluous.”  190 F.3d at 895.  In the second 
part of its holding, Fogie concluded that § 1964(c)’s 
proximate-cause requirement bars as a matter of            
law a private RICO plaintiff from attempting to 
prove an “investment injury” by tracing illicit money 
into a corporate treasury, across the corporation’s            
innumerable decisions regarding its fungible assets, 
and out the other side.  The court held:  “if [such]          
reinvestment ‘were to suffice, the use-or-investment 
injury requirement would be almost completely evis-
cerated when the alleged pattern of racketeering is 
committed on behalf of a corporation.  Over the long 
term, corporations generally reinvest their profits, 
regardless of source.’ ”  Id. at 896 (quoting Britting-
ham v. Mobil Corp., 943 F.2d 297, 305 (3d Cir. 1991)) 
(ellipsis omitted).  This case would have come out            
differently under the second part of Fogie’s holding 
— the proximate-cause ruling. 
II. THE SECOND CIRCUIT’S DECISION IS            

ERRONEOUS 
Respondent devotes the majority of its opposition 

to arguing (at 13-29) that it can prove factual causa-
tion.  According to respondent, it really is possible to 
trace National’s alleged racketeering proceeds from 
the “cash-no-tax” scheme, to reinvestment of some 
portion of those proceeds in National, and then            
across a complicated series of legitimate and lawful 
actions — including National’s establishment of a 
new store in the Bronx, its decision to offer lower 
prices, Ideal’s refusal or inability to compete effec-
tively against National, and consumers’ decisions to 
purchase from National — which eventually caused 
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Ideal’s lost profits.  Ideal’s merits arguments are          
legally irrelevant and, in any event, incorrect. 

A. It does not matter whether Ideal could, in 
theory or fact, trace dollars from National’s alleged 
tax fraud to competitive injuries that Ideal might 
have suffered years later.  The whole point of every 
proximate-cause requirement — including § 1964(c)’s 
— is to bar private plaintiffs such as Ideal from          
attempting to do so as a matter of law, “[b]ecause of 
convenience, of public policy, [or] of a rough sense of 
justice.”  CSX Transp., Inc. v. McBride, 131 S. Ct. 
2630, 2637 (2011) (internal quotations omitted).  

In the context of civil RICO, this Court has               
explained that rule by “demand[ing] . . . some direct 
relation between the injury asserted and the inju-
rious conduct alleged.”  Holmes, 503 U.S. at 268; see 
also Anza, 547 U.S. at 459-60; Lightning Lube, Inc. v. 
Witco Corp., 4 F.3d 1153, 1188-89 (3d Cir. 1993).  
Thus, in Holmes, the subrogee of customers of a group 
of broker-dealers sued an alleged stock manipulator, 
whose fraud caused the broker-dealers’ liquidation 
and injured the customers.  This Court “[a]ssum[ed] 
that an appropriate assessment of factual causation 
could be made out,” but, even so, it barred the plain-
tiff ’s suit as a matter of law under § 1964(c).  503 
U.S. at 273; see also id. at 266 (under § 1964(c)’s 
proximate-cause requirement, “all factually injured 
plaintiffs [cannot necessarily] recover” for violations 
of § 1962).  It did so to prevent exactly the specula-
tive, dollar-tracing exercises embraced by the Second 
Circuit below:  § 1964(c) bars a federal court from            
attempting to “determine the extent to which [the 
customers’ injury] was the result of the alleged con-
spiracy to manipulate, as opposed to, say, the broker-
dealers’ poor business practices or their failures to 
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anticipate developments in the financial markets.”  
Id. at 273; see also id. at 269 (“[T]he less direct an 
injury is, the more difficult it becomes to ascertain 
the amount of a plaintiff ’s damages attributable to 
the violation, as distinct from other, independent, 
factors.”).3 

Here, the connection between Ideal’s alleged “in-
vestment injury” (lost profits) and National’s alleged 
racketeering activity (the corporate reinvestment of 
illegal income) is even more tenuous.  Ideal claims 
that National (1) earned ill-gotten gains from a 
“cash-no-tax” scheme that targeted and affected           
third parties; (2) mixed those proceeds with other              
assets in its corporate coffers; (3) invested some un-
specified portion of those allegedly ill-gotten gains in 
a new National store in the Bronx; (4) invested other, 
non-tainted corporate resources in National’s Bronx 
store; and (5) cut prices and expanded production at 
its Bronx store.  Ideal further alleges that (6) it was 
either incapable or unwilling to compete effectively 
against National’s lower-priced products; (7) some of 
Ideal’s customers actually preferred Ideal’s (bent and 
rusty) steel products to National’s higher-quality 
ones; but (8) Ideal’s customers nevertheless chose to 
purchase from National instead of Ideal.   

Even accepting respondent’s view of the facts, only 
the first three steps in Ideal’s eight-link causal chain 

                                                 
3 Respondent incorrectly suggests (at 18) that Holmes estab-

lished a canonical three-factor test for assessing “directness.”  
This Court in Hemi made clear that “directness” alone is              
the standard, and the Court did not mention or apply “the              
three Holmes factors.”  Opp. 18; see Hemi, 130 S. Ct. at 988-89 
(opinion for the Court in part).  Moreover, this Court in Anza I 
applied only two of the Holmes factors, without suggesting that 
the missing one mattered to its analysis.  See 547 U.S. at 459. 
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involve conduct prohibited by RICO.  See App. 39a 
(Cabranes, J., dissenting) (“[T]he alleged [violation of 
§ 1962(a)] is not National’s creation of a new store          
in the Bronx — on its own, a perfectly legitimate, 
competitive pursuit — but rather, defendants’ invest-
ment of ill-gotten proceeds.”); see also Chamber of 
Commerce Br. 9-10.  Thus, to show that Ideal was 
“injured in [its] business or property by reason of a 
violation of section 1962,” 18 U.S.C. § 1964(c) (em-
phasis added), the district court would have to wade 
through five separate categories of perfectly lawful — 
indeed, pro-competitive — conduct separating the            
alleged § 1962 violation and Ideal’s alleged injuries.  
Section 1964(c) and Holmes’s “directness” require-
ment do not countenance that result. 

Respondent cannot sidestep that failure by substi-
tuting allegations regarding petitioners’ “intent.”  Cf. 
Opp. 5 (claiming that respondent satisfies § 1964(c) 
because “the Anzas intentionally targeted Ideal, and 
only Ideal”); accord Opp. 19 & nn.20-21.  That is        
precisely the proposition that the Second Circuit             
embraced — and this Court rejected — in Anza I.  
See 373 F.3d 251, 260 (2d Cir. 2004) (holding that 
§ 1964(c) authorizes private, treble-damages suits by 
“the targets, competitors and intended victims of the 
racketeering enterprise”) (internal quotations omit-
ted), rev’d, Anza I, 547 U.S. at 460 (“A RICO plaintiff 
cannot circumvent the proximate-cause requirement 
simply by claiming that the defendant’s aim was to 
increase market share at a competitor’s expense.”); 
see also Anza I, 547 U.S. at 470-71 (Thomas, J.,             
dissenting in part) (noting that, under Anza I, “the 
intended consequences of the defendant’s unlawful 
behavior” are irrelevant). 
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B. In any event, it is factually impossible for 
Ideal to support each relevant step of its eight-part 
causal chain.  Assuming that petitioners had rein-
vested illicit income in National’s corporate treasury, 
those fungible moneys immediately would have 
mixed with other, legitimate ones.  Ideal has not            
attempted to trace its injury, nor could it, to the alle-
gedly tainted funds alone.  Cf. App. 11a (noting that 
National paid $500,000 to open its new Bronx store 
but omitting any discussion of where National got 
that money or whether it could have opened the              
store even without its allegedly ill-gotten gains).  The 
impossibility of separating one pool of fungible assets 
from another and tracing the plaintiff ’s injury to            
one but not the other underlies the majority circuits’ 
correct interpretation of § 1964(c)’s proximate-cause 
requirement.  See, e.g., Brittingham, 943 F.2d at 305; 
Pet. 15-23.4 

                                                 
4 Respondent’s reliance (at 2-3, 18) on statements made by 

Chief Justice Roberts during oral argument for Anza I is mis-
placed.  This Court speaks through its opinions, not individual 
Justices’ questions at oral argument.  Cf. Fayerweather v. Ritch, 
195 U.S. 276, 307 (1904).  The decision in Anza remanded the 
§ 1962(a) claim not because it “lacked . . . proximate cause prob-
lems,” Opp. 2, but because this Court lacked the benefit of the 
Second Circuit’s views, see 547 U.S. at 462.  In any event, the 
Chief Justice asked whether, under § 1962(a), “all [Ideal would] 
have to show is that the proceeds used for [National’s new store] 
were illicitly procured.”  Oral Arg. Tr. 11, Anza I, No. 04-433 
(Mar. 27, 2006).  But, as explained above, whether that showing 
is sufficient to state a violation of § 1962(a) is a different ques-
tion than whether a sufficiently direct connection exists between 
the alleged unlawful investment and the plaintiff ’s claimed           
injury.  Here, there is not. 
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III. THE QUESTION PRESENTED IS AN IS-
SUE OF RECURRING NATIONAL IMPOR-
TANCE 

The Chamber of Commerce — on behalf of three 
million members of the U.S. business community — 
powerfully demonstrates “the expense and disruption 
of defending against abusive lawsuits by plaintiffs            
in pursuit of treble damages” under § 1964(c).  Br. 2.  
The magnitude of that expense and disruption is           
increasing:  In 2010 (the last full year for which            
data are available), plaintiffs filed 954 civil RICO 
suits in federal courts — up more than 20% from the 
year before.  See Administrative Office of the United 
States Courts, Statistical Tables for the Federal           
Judiciary, tbl. C-2, at 3 (Dec. 2010). 

The Second Circuit’s decision here invites even 
more unsuccessful competitors to bring even more 
attenuated civil RICO suits after being bested in            
the marketplace.  Allowing § 1964(c) to be misused          
in that way “would set society on edge and fill the 
courts with endless litigation.”  W. Page Keeton et 
al., Prosser and Keeton on Torts § 41, at 264 (5th ed. 
1984) (internal quotations omitted).  See also Anza I, 
547 U.S. at 485 (Breyer, J., concurring in relevant 
part) (“Firms losing the competitive battle might find 
bases for a RICO attack on their more successful 
competitors in claimed misrepresentations or even 
comparatively minor misdeeds by that competitor.”); 
App. 40a (Cabranes, J., dissenting) (§ 1964(c) must 
be interpreted to prevent “RICO [from being] mis-
used as a weapon against competition in the market-
place”). 

Moreover, the Second Circuit’s decision places civil 
RICO at loggerheads with the federal antitrust laws 
in a manner that Congress could not have intended.  
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Suppose, for example, that National could choose to 
open its new store either in the Bronx (where it 
would compete with Ideal) or instead in a rural area 
(that previously did not enjoy service from any steel 
products retailers).  The pro-competitive results 
would be the same either way — consumers would 
benefit from greater choice and greater availability of 
steel products.  But National would face a civil RICO 
suit only where, as here, it deployed its resources            
to challenge its competitor’s monopoly.  Under the 
Second Circuit’s rationale, therefore, the presence of 
National’s competitor and an erstwhile monopolist, 
Ideal, gives rise to civil RICO liability, and the pro-
competitive results of National’s conduct are irrele-
vant.  That is the exact opposite of the result em-
braced by the antitrust laws.  See, e.g., Brown Shoe 
Co. v. United States, 370 U.S. 294, 344 (1962) (“It is 
competition, not competitors, which the [Sherman] 
Act protects.”). 

Thus, reversing the judgment below would not            
“invent[ ] a new antitrust-based exception to RICO.”  
Opp. 28.  RICO would remain civilly enforceable           
by competitors who can directly trace their injuries          
to violations of § 1962.  See Pet. 27 n.5 (discussing 
Bridge v. Phoenix Bond & Indemnity Co., 553 U.S. 
639 (2008)); Pet. 30-31.  All violations of § 1962(a) 
and (c) would remain fully enforceable by govern-
ment prosecutors — the proximate-cause element 
under § 1964(c) does not implicate any prosecutorial 
concern, which is why the Solicitor General typically 
has not participated in cases like Holmes, Hemi, and 
Anza I.  Allowing the Second Circuit’s decision to 
stand, by contrast, creates an “irreconcilable conflict” 
between civil RICO and the pro-competitive purposes 
of the antitrust laws — a result that Congress could 
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not have intended and that even respondent pro-
fesses to oppose.  Opp. 27 (internal quotations omit-
ted). 

CONCLUSION 
The petition for a writ of certiorari should be 

granted. 
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